## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

JOHN R. HARRISON and JAMES A. MIMS, JR.

Appellants

Bizief

versus

NO. 2006-CA-01663

**BOBBY JOE ROBERTS** 

Appellee

# CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record for appellants hereby certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court or the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

John R. Harrison

Appellant

James A. Mims, Jr.

**Appellant** 

Bobby Joe Roberts

Appellee

Arnold F. Gwin

Attorney for Appellants

E. Scott Verhine

Attorney for Appellee

### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

The sole issue in this case is whether the lower court was manifestly in error in holding that there was no mutual mistake in the land description in the deed and that Mr. Harrison intended to convey to Roberts "all land south of the road" whether it contained more than 30 acres or not and, therefore, Harrison and Mims were not entitled to equitable relief.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 29, 2005, Bobby Joe Roberts, as the plaintiff, filed suit in the Chancery Court of Webster County, Mississippi, against John R. Harrison and James A. Mims, Jr., as the defendants, in Cause No. 2005-178. The complaint was styled "Suit to Reform Deeds, Remove Cloud from Title and Confirm Title to Bobby Joe Roberts". The complaint alleges that there is a dispute over the ownership of a certain six acres of land which the plaintiff claimed were owned by him by virtue of a conveyance from the defendant Harrison. The plaintiff alleges that the defendant Harrison conveyed to him "approximately 36 acres of land" and

"that the northernmost approximately six acres of land out of the 36-acre tract is subject to an apparent dispute of ownership".

The complaint further alleges that the 36 acres was deeded to the plaintiff in April, 2003, but that in July, 2005, the defendant Harrison attempted to deed the northernmost six acres of the 36-acre tract to the defendant James A. Mims, Jr. Shortly after that, according to the complaint, the defendant Harrison executed corrected deeds conveying to the plaintiff Roberts, only 30 acres of land (excepting the northernmost six acres) and deeding to the defendant James A. Mims, Jr., ten acres of land (including the six acres previously described in the deed to the plaintiff Roberts).

The complaint of the plaintiff asked that the two deeds to the defendant James A. Mims, Jr., (conveying him ten acres of land, being the northernmost ten acres of the 40-acre tract owned by the defendant Harrison), and the "corrected warranty deed" to the plaintiff Roberts conveying him only 30 acres be "conformed" so as to take away the six acres of land from the two deeds to the defendant Mims, and restore the six acres to the plaintiff Roberts,

so that Roberts got 36 acres of land and Mims got only four acres of land. The plaintiff also asked that the court "declare" that Roberts was the true owner of the six acres in dispute.

The defendants, Harrison and Mims, answered the complaint, admitting that there was a dispute about the six acres of land and alleging that "this six acres of land was never intended to be conveyed by the defendant Harrison to the plaintiff Roberts, and that the defendant Mims is the true owner of this six acres of land as the grantee from the defendant Harrison." And, further alleged:

The defendants would further show unto the court that the plaintiff proposed to purchase 30 acres from the defendant Harrison at \$500.00 per acre, and paid the defendant Harrison \$15,000.00 for said land. The defendant Harrison did not intend to convey 36 acres to the plaintiff Roberts, nor did Roberts intend to buy, or pay for, 36 acres. The defendants would further show unto the court that the description in the deed attached hereto from Harrison to Roberts mistakenly described the land which was intended to be conveyed so as to describe six more acres than Harrison intended to buy from Harrison.

The answer of the defendants further admitted that the

defendant Harrison did, by corrected warranty deed, deed to the defendant Mims the north ten acres of Harrison's entire 40-acre tract.

The answer further alleged that the corrected warranty deed, deeding to the plaintiff Roberts, six acres less land and deeding ten acres to the defendant Mims (including the six acres) was done, because the defendant Harrison discovered a mistake in the original deed to the plaintiff; that the plaintiff's lawyer, C. P. Fortner, acknowledged that he had made a mistake in the previous description and that he prepared and filed the correction deeds. The defendants admitted that Roberts executed no deed to the defendant Harrison or the defendant Mims.

As an affirmative defense, the defendants alleged:

That the defendant Harrison never intended to convey to the plaintiff the 30 acres of land, and never intended to convey (any part of) the north ten acres of the West Half of the Northwest Quarter of Section 30, Township 20 North, Range 11 East, and that the plaintiff never intended to purchase said land and never paid for the additional six acres. The defendants ask the court to declare that the two correction deeds (that is, the one conveying Roberts only the south

30 acres of the 40 acres of land and the one conveying to the defendant Mims the north ten acres of the 40-acre tract of land) correctly described the land intended to be conveyed by Harrison to Roberts and Mims, and that that is the land owned by each of them.

The case came on for trial on September 5, 2006, and the lower court decided, in substance, that there was "no mutual mistake...at that time as to what was sold and purchased or as to how it was described" and ordered that the correction deeds and the original deed from Harrison to Mims conveying ten acres be declared null and void.

The defendants appeal from this decision.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The majority of the facts in this case are undisputed. It is believed that the Court will understand the facts of this case easier if the Court will refer to Exhibit "A" attached hereto. This exhibit is a copy of the tax assessor's plat, and it shows the ownership of the land as ordered and adjudged by the lower court. The land involved is the 80 acres in the northwest corner of Section 30 shown on the

plat; before the transaction involved in this case between Roberts and Harrison, Roberts owned the 40 acres shown as No. 9 on the plat and Harrison owned the 40 acres shown as 10 and 10.1 on the plat; after the transaction and, as ordered by the lower court, Roberts owned the 40 acres shown as No. 9 and the 36 acres shown as 10.1; Harrison (and now the defendant Mims) owned the four acres shown as No. 10 in the northwest corner and north of the road running generally east and west. The disputed land is the six acres immediately south of the road running east and west.

The plaintiff Roberts, and the defendant Harrison are cousins, and they both agreed that the original transaction between them occurred when Roberts approached Harrison (who was then 84 years old) about selling his 40 acres. Harrison did not wish to sell all of his 40 acres, but agreed to sell 30 acres (R 17 and R 52). Roberts testified that they both thought that he was buying 30 acres south of the road and that there was 10 acres north of the road that would be retained by Harrison (R 18 and 19). According to Harrison, the gist of the conversation with Roberts was: "First off,

I said, I didn't want to sell the 40 acres as long as I was able to take care of it, and how about me selling him 30 acres of the 40 acres, and I would keep ten acres and the house...."

Both Roberts and Harrison agreed that Roberts offered \$500.00 per acre for a total purchase price of \$15,000.00. Harrison testified (R 52) that he thought the land was worth more than \$500.00 an acre, but he accepted Roberts' offer, because it would "keep the land in the family if he bought it". The promissory note from Bobby Joe Roberts to Harrison for \$15,000.00 was admitted in evidence as Exhibit "11" and the deed of trust securing said promissory note was admitted as Exhibit "8".

The crux of this case is, of course, the intention of the parties. Roberts contends that he intended to buy all of Harrison's land south of the east-west road (identified as the Lollar Road) regardless of the acreage. Harrison, on the other hand, contends that he only intended to convey the south 30 acres (all of which was south of the road) and to retain 10 acres, and that that was all that Roberts intended to buy. The testimony concerning this issue will

be fully discussed hereinafter in the argument.

Roberts and Harrison agreed, in their testimony, that they went to C. P. Fortner, an attorney in Eupora, who had done work for Roberts in the past. There is no dispute but that Fortner was Roberts' lawyer, and he was paid by Roberts. Harrison did not have a lawyer. Roberts, Harrison and Fortner each testified that Harrison intended to convey Roberts 30 acres off the south side of his 40-acre tract (Roberts R 20; Harrison R 46-47; Fortner R 65-66). All three also agreed that Fortner was having difficulty with the description of the north boundary so as to encompass the south 30 acres; that Roberts suggested using the Lollar Road as the north boundary; that Fortner drew the deed, admitted as Exhibit "2", reciting that Harrison was conveying Roberts "a parcel of land containing 30 acres, more or less" but using as the north boundary "the south right-of-way of the public road". Harrison and Roberts both testified that they thought this did in fact convey 30 acres, and that there was ten acres left north of the road.

Parenthetically, it might be mentioned here that there was

a scrivner's error concerning the range in the land conveyed by Harrison to Roberts, so that this conveyance would not appear in the proper place in the sectional index kept in the office of the chancery clerk, because it was indexed under the wrong range (R 70 and R 80).

Approximately two years later, the defendant Mims had offered to take his distant cousin, the defendant Harrison, to a family reunion, and they drove by Mr. Harrison's residence located on the northern portion of the land retained by him. Mims and Harrison discussed Harrison selling Mims the residence and ten acres of land (Harrison R 49; Mims R 76). Mims agreed to buy the house and all the furniture in it, together with certain farm equipment and the ten acres of land for a total price of \$25,000.00.

Harrison then conveyed to Mims by a deed dated July 8, 2005, the north ten acres of his 40 acres, together with the house and outside sheds, and Mims paid Harrison \$25,000.00. When Mims went to file his deed, he discovered that on the tax assessor's record that Harrison did not in fact own ten acres, but only owned

four acres (R 80). Harrison and Mims went to Fortner (who was Roberts' lawyer) and informed him of the problem. Fortner then (free of charge) drew two "corrected warranty deeds", one from Harrison to Mims conveying the north ten acres of the 40-acretract; and the other from Harrison to Roberts conveying the south 30 acres of the 40-acre tract. These deeds were recorded. It is also undisputed that Roberts was not a party to these corrected deeds, nor was he informed of them by Mims, Harrison or Fortner. Mims testified at R 81: "I asked Mr. Fortner if I needed to go try to contact Mr. Roberts, and he said, 'No. I made this mistake. This is a mistake on my part, and I'll correct it'." Fortner testified that: "I knew that the original discussion was for 30 acres," and as to why he didn't call Mr. Roberts about the corrected deeds, he testified: "I didn't-well, of course, the only person that can sign the corrected deed is the grantor, and he was the only party that needed to sign it." (R 68)

Roberts testified that he found out about the corrected deeds, and a couple of months later when he saw a lady on a lawn

mower cutting hay on the disputed six acres, she told Roberts that Mims owned the land and asked if he would like to speak to Mims about it. Roberts said that he would and went to speak with Mims, who was on a tractor, and he said that the first thing Mims said was: "Well, that's your goddam problem, you son-of-a-bitch." When asked why Mims would say that, he didn't know why. Mims denies this.

At any rate, this caused Roberts to investigate into the matter, and he discovered the corrected warranty deeds and filed this lawsuit.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

It is not what description the parties intended to write but what property the parties intended to have embraced in the description they used....To hold that a court of equity could not...correct mistakes for the reason alone that the parties used the terms they actually intended to use would be to curtail its powers in a hitherto unheard extent. Most mistakes of fact in conveyances, except those caused by clerical misprision, arise in cases when descriptive terms are intentionally employed under the mistaken impression that they apply to the property sought to be conveyed.

Brimm v. McGee, 80 So. 379 at 381.

It is the contention and argument of the appellants here that the evidence in this case is clear that Harrison only intended to convey to Roberts the south 30 acres of his 40-acre tract of land, and that Roberts only intended to buy the south 30 acres. If this was in fact the intention of the parties, then it is clear that equity jurisdiction should correct the mutual mistake of the land description to conform to the intention of the parties. In short, the corrected deeds from Harrison to Mims and Harrison to Roberts should be declared valid conveyances, and that Roberts owns the south 30 acres, and Mims owns the north ten acres of Harrison's 40-acre tract,

#### **ARGUMENT**

Initially, Roberts testified that he approached Harrison about selling him "the entire place" and "he wasn't ready to sell all of it. I asked him about selling me the south part, south of the road, and we agreed on that" (R 17). Harrison, on the other hand, when asked by Roberts' counsel:

- Q. But Mr. Roberts approached you about buying the land?
- A. Well, we didn't mention south of the road, we just mentioned 30 acres.

(R 47)

In short, Roberts would have the court believe that the intention of the parties was that Harrison would sell and Roberts would buy all land south of the road regardless of acreage.

Harrison, on the other hand, contends that he only intended to sell Roberts the south 30 acres of his property.

It is respectfully submitted that, if the court will carefully examine the testimony of the parties, there can be no doubt that the contention of Mr. Harrison is correct, i.e., he only intended to convey the south 30 acres, and Roberts only intended to buy the south 30 acres.

Obviously, the first thing that jumps out in support of Harrison's contention is the fact that everyone agrees that the purchase price was \$500.00 per acre, and there was a total purchase price of \$15,000.00-obviously buying 30 acres.

As to Roberts' testimony, after his initial contention that he approached Harrison about buying all the land south of the road, he admitted repeatedly that he and Harrison both thought there was 30 acres south of the road and ten acres north of the road.

(R 18, R 19, R 20, R 36-37)

Harrison, Roberts and Fortner all agreed that when
Harrison and Roberts first came to Fortner to draw the deed, it was
understood that Harrison was to convey to Roberts the south 30
acres, all of which was south of the road, but they did not know
where to put the north boundary so as to encompass 30 acres.

#### Harrison testified:

- Q. Did Mr. Fortner question you and Mr. Roberts about what description to use for the land for the deed?
- A. The only question he had was the north boundary.

Fortner testified that he knew the 30 acres was on the south side of the 40-acre tract: "I knew it was started at the southeast corner by the description" (R 65). He then stated that he knew the west boundary, the south boundary and the east

boundary, but he did not know where to draw the north boundary to comprise the 30 acres (R66).

Parenthetically, Fortner, Harrison and Roberts all agreed that Roberts suggested using the north boundary as the road, that Fortner drew the deed in this fashion, and Harrison signed it.

Roberts also testified: "Mr. Fortner was drawing the deed up, and he had some question about the north boundary." (R 19) He further testified that we "both thought there was 30 acres south of the road".

Fortner, Harrison and Roberts all agreed that there was talk about a survey being too expensive, and that is when Roberts suggested using the road as the north boundary.

At page 35 of the Record, Roberts stated: "When I approached Mr. Harrison about buying the property, he wouldn't sell me the 40 acres, that's true, and he agreed to sell me the land south of the road and retain that north of the road." He was then questioned about his statement that Mr. Fortner had some question about the north boundary, and he recalled saying that.

The point here is, if what Roberts contended was the agreement between himself and Harrison, i.e., that he was buying all the land south of the road regardless of acreage, then it is perfectly plain that there would be no problem about the north boundary—it would be the road.

Appellants submit that this testimony makes it perfectly plain that Roberts is mistaken when he says that he approached Harrison about buying all the property south of the road. He approached him about buying the whole 40 acres, and Harrison told him he wouldn't sell him 40 acres, he would sell him 30 acres.

The lower court appeared to acknowledge that the original agreement between the parties was for the purchase and sale of 30 acres of the 40-acre tract. The court stated:

The parties declined to survey a tract of exactly 30 acres and agreed to sell and purchase the acreage within the calls of the deed, notwithstanding any inaccuracy as to acreage....This change in the terms of the sale occurred when the lawyer drawing the deed inquired of the parties about a survey or of use of a monument to set the north line of the tract. At that time, the parties changed their agreement from one of 30 acres at \$500.00 per acre to the sale and purchase of the tract as

bounded by the public road on the north side for \$15,000.00....No mutual mistake existed at that time as to what was sold and purchased or as to how it was described....In this case, all parties knew that the description included all land south the road. They further knew that their original agreement was no longer valid because they were incapable of describing a 30-acre tract without a survey. They both knew what was being sold included all acreage up to the road.

(Judgment of the Court at pages 1 and 2)

With respect for the lower court's judgment, the appellants submit that this finding by the lower court is simply not supported by the evidence. Both Roberts and Harrison repeatedly testified that both of them thought that the description in the deed using the road as the north boundary of the land conveyed would convey to Roberts 30 acres and that there was ten acres left north of the road. (See Roberts 18, 19, 20, 36 and See Harrison 48, 49)

The lower court notes that the difference in the acreage is 5.46 acres, so that Roberts, at \$500.00 per acre, paid \$2,730.00 too little. The court noted that sum is 18.2% of the purchase price. "This difference is not so large as to suggest any unconscionability or overreaching of Harrison in requesting that he sell the described

tract, subsequently learned to be 35.46 acres, for his original purchase price of \$15,000.00." There are several problems with this analysis by the lower court. First, it fails to consider that Harrison intended to retain the house and ten acres of land: whereas, he only retained the house and four and a half acres of land. In short, he retained less than half of what he and Roberts intended for him to retain. Furthermore, presumably, the acreage surrounding the house would be more valuable than the acreage farther away. Moreover, Harrison testified that he sold the land to Roberts at a low price, because he wanted to keep the land in the family. Harrison was 84 years old at the time of the sale, and Fortner was Roberts' lawyer and was paid by Roberts according to Harrison, Roberts and Fortner. In this regard, it is submitted that Fortner, being primarily a real estate lawyer according to him, should have known that he did not have to use the road as the north boundary, but that he could have simply had Harrison convey to Roberts the south 30 acres of his 40 acres of land. See King v. Jones, 24 So.2d 860, 199 Miss. 666 (Miss. 1946). Obviously, when

Fortner represented Roberts and Roberts suggested using the road, Fortner did not tell Harrison that that was not necessary.

Appellants submit that it is pretty easy to understand why an 84-year-old man, who is selling his land too cheap to a family member in order to keep it in the family, would not expect to be taken advantage of. But that is what happened.

Appellants respectfully submit that, if the Court believes, as contended by the appellants, that Harrison intended to convey to Roberts 30 acres off the south of his property, that both thought, using the description they used, Harrison was in fact conveying 30 acres of land to Roberts and retaining ten acres (as they both testified), then, under the law of the State of Mississippi, all Roberts acquired was the south 30 acres of land regardless of what the legal description described.

In <u>Brimm v. McGee</u>, 80 So. 379 (Miss. 1919), James Alexander purchased from one Sykes property in the City of Jackson described as Lots 10 and 12. At the time of this sale, Sykes had a residence, garage, driveway and other improvements

located partially on the east side of Lot 10 and the west side of Lot 12. The driveway to the Alexander residence apparently ran north and south and was located on Lot 12 (which was the eastern lot). Lots 10 and 12 were both 80 feet wide, and the property east of the driveway on Lot 12 was 60 feet wide. Alexander conveyed a onehalf interest in Lots 10 and 12 to McGee. Alexander and McGee, about a year later, decided to divide the property, but they both mistakenly believed that the driveway was the boundary between Lots 10 and 12 (whereas, the driveway was actually 20 feet east of that boundary). Because of this mistake, Alexander deeded to McGee Lot 10 and McGee deeded to Alexander Lot 12. Alexander later deeded Lot 12 to his brother, James, who erected a residence thereon and then sold what was described as Lot 12 to the appellant Brimm. The parties later learned that Lot 12 included a large portion of McGee's improvements on the land. None of the parties in this case had a survey done. McGee then sued the Alexanders and Brimm alleging a mutual mistake.

The lower court reformed the instruments so as to use the

driveway as the boundary between the two properties which is what all parties had always thought-that the driveway was the boundary between Lots 10 and 12.

In affirming the lower court, the Supreme Court stated:

It is contended on behalf of the appellant that no definite contract was entered into by the original parties, Alexander and McGee, for the reason that while both understood that the driveway was the dividing line between Lots 10 and 12, each intended to use the very terms employed, and understood that he was getting what his deed called for. It is contended under the facts that there was no mutual mistake; that there is no ambiguity on the face of the deed, such as an error in the lot number, section, or range, and that the result of a reformation would be to make a contract which the parties themselves did not make. It is also contended that Brimm is an innocent purchaser for value, and that the complainant is guilty of negligence.

Our interpretation of the facts leads us to the conclusion that appellant is wrong in his contention.

The Supreme Court stated:

The main argument of appellant amounts to this: That since the parties intentionally used in their deeds the very terms of description written in the deeds, and there is no ambiguity on the face of the conveyances, they are now bound by the documents as written. But the jurisdiction of the equities should not be so circumscribed. It is not the appearances, but the realities, which govern as well stated by counsel for appellee:

"It is not what description the parties intended to write but what property the parties intended to have embraced in the description they used....To hold that a court of equity could not correct the mistakes for the reason alone that the parties had used the terms they actually intended to use would be to curtail its powers to an hitherto unheard extent."

The important inquiry is, what property did appellee McGee and his co-tenant, J. A. Alexander, agree to convey one to the other...The testimony of McGee and Alexander establish a mutual mistake of fact....

Nor will the relief be denied because the parties made a mistake as to the legal sufficiency of the description.

Prudent businessmen make many mistakes, and these mistakes are found under many forms and under a variety of circumstances, but the limitations on the jurisdiction of equity to correct mutual mistakes of fact are indeed few.

We do not think appellee is precluded by any alleged negligence.

See also the case of Veterans Administration v. Bullock,

180 So.2d 610 (Miss. 1965), wherein the court quoted from other

#### cases as follows:

It was not the description of the land that the parties intended to write into the deed, but what land the parties intended to embrace in the description they used.

## And again:

And a court of equity will likewise interpose and correct a mistake of fact, even though the parties employ the very terms they designed to use.

The appellants lastly would refer the court to the case of Webb v. Brown, 404 So.2d 1029 (Miss. 1981). In this case, the heirs of Annie K. Varnado and two grantees filed a bill for reformation of a warranty deed conveying property to one Brown. Brown filed a counterclaim seeking confirmation of title to the property described in her deed. In this case, Mrs. Varnado owned several buildings, which included a cleaners, beauty shop and an antique shop and additional property known as the Ainsworth Building. Mrs. Varnado executed a deed to one Wiggins and McGuffie, intending to convey all of the stores mentioned, but not the Ainsworth Building. Varnado, McGuffie and Wiggins all thought that Varnado was selling and they were buying the cleaners, beauty

shop and antique shop, but not the Ainsworth Building; whereas, in fact, the legal description used included the Ainsworth Building, as well as the other businesses. No survey was performed. This same property was later sold to Brown, using the same description. No survey was done on Brown's purchase, and McGuffie stated that he only intended to convey to Brown the cleaners, beauty shop and antique shop and not the Ainsworth Building.

The lower court found for the appellee Brown and held that she owned the Ainsworth Building.

On appeal, the Supreme Court reversed and rendered.

The Court said:

It is not necessary to consider all assignments of error for we are of the opinion the evidence unmistakenly demonstrates it was the clear intention of the original grantor, Mrs. Annie K. Varnado, not to convey the Ainsworth Building. Neither did the original grantees, Peggy Wiggins and Durwood McGuffie, intend to purchase the property in dispute nor did McGuffie intend to subsequently convey it to Elizabeth Brown. Even though the deed description after survey included part of the Ainsworth Building, it is not the description they intended to write which controls, but the property the parties intended to include in the description used. In Brimm v. McGee, 119

Miss. 52, 57, 80 So. 379, 381 (1919), a reformation of deed suit wherein a mistake as to the description intended to be conveyed occurred, this court held "It is not what description the parties intended to write but what property the parties intended to have embraced in the description they used." Moreover, we are of the opinion the evidence demonstrates beyond a reasonable doubt a mutual mistake on the part of the original grantor and grantees. See Perrian v. Mapp, 374 So.2d 794 (Miss. 1979). Thus, we are of the opinion the mistake in description in the deed should be reformed to coincide with the description of the property intended to be conveyed.

Reversed and judgment entered for appellants.

The lower court attempted to distinguish this last case by saying:

In this case, all parties knew that the description included all land south of the road. They further knew that their original agreement was no longer valid because they were incapable of describing a 30-acre tract without a survey. They both knew

what was being sold included all acreage up to the road.

With respect, appellants submit that this conclusion by the lower court wholly overlooked the testimony of both Harrison and Roberts that is repeated over and over that they both thought that

all of the land south of the road was 30 acres and all of the land north of the road was ten acres. There is no suggestion that either party ever thought that the land south of the road was going to be 36 acres and the land north of the road four acres, approximately.

Appellants would further point out to the Court the following rules of construction of deeds adopted by this Court.

Where grantee is party that drafted instrument granting interest in land, document will be construed against grantee.

McDonald v. Board of Mississippi Levy Commissioners, 646 Fed. Supp. 449, affirmed 832 F.2d 901 (N.D. Mis

Instruments drawn by a party in interest must be construed most strongly against him.

Hamilton v. Transcontinental Gas Pipe Line Corp, 236 Miss. 429, 110 So.2d 612 (Miss. 1959)

Where deed being construed had been prepared by grantor's attorney, any doubt as to what was intended to be conveyed would be resolved in favor of grantee.

McCuiston v. Blaylock, 215 Miss. 504, 61 So.2d 332 (Miss. 1952)

## **CONCLUSION**

Appellants fail to see the equity in awarding Roberts 5.5 acres of Harrison's land that Harrison did not intend to convey and was not paid for, or the inequity in awarding to Roberts only the 30 acres he intended to receive and being the only land he paid for.