IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

JOHN R. HARRISON and JAMES A. MIMS, JR.

APPELLANTS

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2006-CA-01663

BOBBY JOE ROBERTS

APPELLEE Beief

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record for appellee hereby certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court or the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

John R. Harrison

Appellant

James A. Mims, Jr.

Appellant

Bobby Joe Roberts

Appellee

E. Scott Verhine

Attorney for Appellee

Arnold F. Gwin

Attorney for Appellants

This the 5th day of April, 2007.

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

LEGAL ARGUMENT

1. By not making a motion for a reconsideration or a motion for a new trial,

Appellant's claims that the judgment is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence must fail.

Harrison and Mims argue that the Chancellor's findings were against the overwhelming weight of the evidence presented at trial. (App Br 17). This court has consistently held that a trial court will not be found in error on a matter not presented to the trial court for decision.

Purvis v. Barnes, 791 So.2d 199,203 (Miss. 2001). Additionally, this court has held that "[t]here are certain errors that parties must bring to the attention of the trial judge in a motion for a new trial" in order to have those matters brought before this court. McClemore v. State, 669 So.2d 19,24 (Miss.1996). By not bringing the issue before the trial court prior to appeal, Harrison and Mims are barred from making them now.

2. Harrison clearly understood the legal boundaries that he was conveying to Roberts, therefore, he is precluded from seeking equitable relief just because those boundaries contained more acreage than the parties originally thought.

The trial court found that the evidence demonstrated Harrison and Roberts consented to the roadway as being the north boundary of the property. (RE 43). Clearly, this fact was undisputed at trial. (Tr. 19, 46, 58) There was no mutual mistake as to the description of the land rather only what acreage the land contained. However, the deed of conveyance clearly demonstrated that the parcel conveyed contained "thirty acres more or less." (RE 8)

Mississippi has long held that a mutual mistake does not alone make a contract unenforceable. Wall v. Wall, 177 Miss 743, 171 So. 675 (1937). This court has held that a contract may be voidable only when the mistake is a material element to the contract. Terry

Haute Cooperage v. Branscome, 203 Miss. 493, 35 So.2d. 537, 540 (1948). When looking to see if a mistake is material, contract law dictates that a party must "show that the resulting imbalance in the agreed exchange is so severe that they cannot fairly be required to carry it out." Restatement (Second) Contracts (1981), §152(c).

The facts in the instant case are similar to those in the <u>Terry Haute Cooperage</u>. In that case, the plaintiff mistakenly believed that a parcel of land contained 350,000 feet of timber footage when in fact it only contained 117,000 feet. <u>Terry Haute Cooperage</u> at 538. This court held that plaintiff was barred from revoking the contract because he had inspected the area and the mistake was his own fault. Id.

While the case *sub judice* is concerned with the acreage of land in a bounded tract, the fact still remains that Harrison was the owner of that land and should have known what lands he owned south of the roadway in question. Further, Harrison and Mims did not prove that the mistake had such an adverse consequence on the bargain that it is not fair for the contract to be carried out.

Harrison and Mims hang their hat on the theory that Roberts should get only thirty acres because he "only intended to buy thirty acres". (App Br 12). However, this fact was consistently rebuffed at trial. The trial court found that the parties both thought the area south of the roadway contained thirty acres and that Roberts and Harrison bargained to buy and sell the land south of the roadway, which they thought was thirty acres. (RE 43,44).

The cases cited by Harrison and Mims are easily distinguishable from the case at hand. In <u>Brimm v. McGee</u>, the grantor and grantee in question both thought that the legal description used in the deed was accurate but in fact it was not. <u>Brimm v. McGee</u>, 119 Miss. 52, 80 So. 379

(Miss. 1919). The court held that an erroneous legal description called for the deed to be reformed since all parties meant to buy and sell a certain parcel of land. <u>Brimm</u> at 381.

Again, in Webb v. Brown, 404 So.2d 1029 (1981), the grantor and grantee both intended to buy and sell a certain tract of land, however, the legal description contained a separate tract of land that was specifically excluded in their oral discussions. Webb at 1031. The court held that since the parties intended to exclude a parcel of land in their negotiations, the deed would be reformed to express the desires of the parties. Id. The facts in the case at issue vary drastically from Webb because here the parties all agreed that the tract to be conveyed was the land south of the roadway. No evidence was presented or found credible by the trial court that any such different agreement existed between the parties.

Finally, <u>King v. Jones</u>, 199 Miss. 666, 24 So.2d 860 (Miss. 1946) is irrelevant to the case at hand as it deals with the intention of a grantor to grant a lien in a Deed of Trust.

3. Public policy dictates that a grantor assumes the risk that land he conveys contains more acreage than he contemplated.

When a real estate transaction closes, buyers and sellers must have confidence that the sale is final. It is a basic policy of real estate law that a seller should know what he is selling and that a buyer should know what he is buying. By allowing parties to make claims years after a closing that a sale was inequitable because there was more or less land conveyed than bargained for, this destroys public confidence in Mississippi's real estate system. Harrison conveyed approximately thirty acres "more or less" to Roberts. If Harrison wanted to sell just thirty acres, he should have had a survey performed to accurately describe the exact boundaries he wanted to sell. Instead, he chose to sell everything south of the roadway which just so happened to be more than thirty acres.

CONCLUSION

The ruling of the trial court should be affirmed as all arguments made by Harrison and Mims are without merit and have no legal precedent in Mississippi law.